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From: ASCC New Claims
To: Kyle.Burton@arcourts.gov
Cc: Kathryn Irby
Subject: CLAIM: Andrew Simpson v. Arkansas Court of Appeals, Claim No. 251345
Date: Tuesday, April 8, 2025 2:29:00 PM
Attachments: Andrew Simpson v. Arkansas Court of Appeals.pdf

Andrew Simpson Claim form and supporting docs (combined) - 251345.pdf

Dear Mr. Burton,
 
Please confirm receipt of the attached claim file. The agency may file its response to this claim
electronically by sending it to asccpleadings@arkansas.gov, with a copy to the claimant
pursuant to the Arkansas Rules of Civil Procedure.
 
Please contact Kathryn Irby with any questions.
 
Thank you,
Caitlin
 
 
Caitlin McDaniel
Administrative Specialist II
Arkansas State Claims Commission

101 East Capitol Avenue, Suite 410
Little Rock, Arkansas 72201
(501) 682-1619
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April 8, 2025 
 
 
Mr. Kyle E. Burton                                                                                     (via email)  
Arkansas Supreme Court and Court of Appeals 
625 Marshall Street, Suite 130 
Justice Building 
Little Rock, Arkansas 72201 
 
RE: Andrew Simpson v. Arkansas Court of Appeals 

Claim No.  251345 
__________________________________________________________________________________________  
 
Dear Mr. Burton, 
 
  Enclosed please find a copy of the above-styled claim filed against the Arkansas Court of 
Appeals. Pursuant to the Arkansas Rules of Civil Procedure, as well as Claims Commission Rule 
2.2, you have thirty days from the date of service in which to file a responsive pleading. 
 
  Your responsive pleading should include your agency number, fund code, appropriation 
code, cost center, and activity/section/unit/element that this claim should be charged against, if 
liability is admitted, or if the Claims Commission approves this claim for payment. This 
information is necessary even if your agency denies liability. 
 
      Sincerely, 
 
      Kathryn Irby 
 
 
ES:  cmcdaniel 
 
cc:   Andrew Simpson, Claimant (w/o encl.)  
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From: Kyle E. Burton
To: ASCC New Claims
Cc: Kathryn Irby
Subject: RE: CLAIM: Andrew Simpson v. Arkansas Court of Appeals, Claim No. 251345
Date: Tuesday, April 8, 2025 3:04:25 PM

Received. Thank you!
 
Kyle E. Burton, Clerk
Arkansas Supreme Court
   and Court of Appeals
625 Marshall Street
Little Rock, AR  72201
(501) 682-4405
 
From: ASCC New Claims <ASCC.New.Claims@arkansas.gov> 
Sent: Tuesday, April 8, 2025 2:30 PM
To: Kyle E. Burton <Kyle.Burton@arcourts.gov>
Cc: Kathryn Irby <Kathryn.Irby@arkansas.gov>
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
To: "Kyle.Burton@arcourts.gov"
Cc: Kathryn Irby
Subject: ADD"L DOC REC"D: Andrew Simpson v. Arkansas Court of Appeals, Claim No. 251345
Date: Friday, April 18, 2025 10:04:00 AM
Attachments: Andrew Simpson Email Update - 251345.pdf

Dear Mr. Burton,
 
Please confirm receipt of the attached email update which were sent to the Claims
Commission by the claimant after the claim was transmitted to the Arkansas Court of
Appeals.
 
Thank you,
Caitlin
 
Caitlin McDaniel
Administrative Specialist II
Arkansas State Claims Commission

101 East Capitol Avenue, Suite 410
Little Rock, Arkansas 72201
(501) 682-1619
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From: Sean Rowland
To: ASCC Pleadings
Cc: Shannon Keele
Subject: Simpson v. Ark. Court of Appeals - Claim 251345
Date: Tuesday, April 29, 2025 10:26:40 AM
Attachments: Outlook-ukas51bi.png

25.04.24 - Notice of Appearance Simpson FINAL.pdf
25.04.29 Simpson MTD FINAL.pdf
25.04.29 Simpson MTD BIS FINAL.pdf

Good morning,
 
Attached is my Entry of Appearance along with Respondent's MTD and Brief in Support
of its MTD.
 
Thank you,
Sean
 
 
Sean M. Rowland
Assistant Attorney General – Civil Litigation Division
 
Office of Attorney General Tim Griffin
Office: (501) 295-7486
323 Center Street, Suite 200 | Little Rock, Arkansas 72201
Email:  sean.rowland@arkansasag.gov
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BEFORE THE STATE CLAIMS COMMISSION  

OF THE STATE OF ARKANSAS 

 

ANDREW SIMPSON             CLAIMANT  

 

v. CLAIM NO. 251345 

 

ARKANSAS COURT OF APPEALS                                                 RESPONDENT 

 

ENTRY OF APPEARANCE 

 

Assistant Attorney General Sean M. Rowland respectfully submits his entry of appearance 

on behalf of Respondent, the Arkansas Court of Appeals. Complete contact information for the 

undersigned counsel is included in the signature block below. 

Respectfully submitted,  

 TIM GRIFFIN 

 Attorney General 

 

 

 

 

____________________________ 

  By: Sean M. Rowland, AR Bar 2024192 

 Assistant Attorney General 

 Arkansas Attorney General's Office 

323 Center Street, Suite 200 

Little Rock, AR 72201 

Phone: (501) 295-7486 

 Fax: (501) 682-2591 

 Email:  sean.rowland@arkansasag.gov 

 

      Attorneys for Respondent  
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

 I, Sean M. Rowland, hereby certify that on April 29, 2025, I electronically filed the 

foregoing with the Arkansas State Claims Commission via ASCCpleadings@arkansas.gov and 

mailed the foregoing document by U.S. Postal Service to the following non-electronic filing 

participant: 

 

Andrew Simpson 

 

 

 

 

 

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

ARKANSAS COURT OF APPEALS                                        RESPONDENT 

 

MOTION TO DISMISS 

 

COMES NOW Respondent, the Arkansas Court of Appeals, by and through its attorneys, 

Attorney General Tim Griffin and Assistant Attorney General Sean M. Rowland, and for its 

Motion to Dismiss, states: 

1. Claimant filed his Complaint with the Arkansas State Claims Commission on or 

about March 10, 2025. 

2. Claimant alleges that Respondent violated Arkansas’ Rules of Civil Procedure by 

denying his motion for relief from judgment in the Ashley County Circuit Court thereby violating 

his constitutional right to due process. 

3. Claimant’s allegations seek monetary relief. 

4. Claimant’s Complaint fails to sufficiently allege a cause of action as required under 

Arkansas’ fact-pleading standard, and it should be dismissed under Arkansas Rule of Civil 

Procedure 12(b)(6). 

5. Claimant’s Complaint is also barred under absolute judicial immunity. 

6. Therefore, Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss should be granted, and Respondent is 

entitled to judgment as a matter of law. 
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7. Respondent has filed a brief in support contemporaneously with this Motion and 

incorporates said brief herein. 

WHEREFORE, Respondent, the Arkansas Court of Appeals, prays that Respondent’s 

Motion to Dismiss is granted, and that the Court grant any and all other just and proper relief to 

which it may be entitled. 

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

 

 

RESPONDENT’S BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO DISMISS 

 

Introduction and Background 

 

On March 10, 2025, Claimant, Andrew Simpson, filed his Complaint against the Arkansas 

Court of Appeals with the Arkansas State Claims Commission. In the Complaint, Claimant alleges 

that on either July 19, 2023, or July 19, 2024, Respondent, the Arkansas Court of Appeals, “refused 

to follow Order issued by United States Western Arkansas District Judge Susan Hickey” thereby 

violating Claimant’s rights and causing him injury. Compl. at 1, 5–6. The Order from Judge Hickey 

in the Western District of Arkansas dictated that “further issues” of the case before her would be 

“resolved in Ashley County Circuit Court” in Arkansas. Compl. at 4–5. According to Claimant, 

Respondent’s violation of his rights caused him injury in “excess of 1 million dollars.” Compl. at 

2.  

 Claimant’s action should be dismissed for two reasons. First, a challenge to a ruling of the 

Arkansas Court of Appeals from the exercise of their judicial function is barred by judicial 

immunity. Second, he fails to state a cognizable claim, even when liberally interpreting his 

complaint. 
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Legal Standard 

 

Arkansas Claims Commission Rule 8.1 states, “The Rules of Civil Procedure as adopted 

by the Circuit Courts of the State of Arkansas will apply in the Arkansas Claims Commission 

unless the Rules of Practice and Procedure of the Arkansas State Claims Commission are to the 

contrary in which cases these rules shall take priority.” Arkansas Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) 

governs a failure to state a claim.  

When asserting a claim, a complaint must state facts indicating that “the pleader is entitled 

to relief.” Ark. R. Civ. P. 8(a). But courts distinguish between facts and conclusions, requiring that 

“a complaint must state facts, not mere conclusions, in order to entitle the pleader to relief.” 

Branscumb v. Freeman, 2009 Ark. App. 857, 3, 372 S.W.3d 843, 846. A motion to dismiss permits 

a defendant to challenge not only the “factual sufficiency of the complaint” but also the “legal 

sufficiency of the complaint, that is, whether the substantive law affords relief . . . .” Orr v. Calicott, 

832 S.W.2d 492, 493–94, 310 Ark. 11, 14 (1992). “The court will look to the underlying facts 

supporting an alleged cause of action to determine whether the matter has been sufficiently pled.” 

Perry v. Baptist Health, 358 Ark. 238, 242, 189 S.W.3d 54, 56 (2004). Accordingly, a complaint 

survives a motion to dismiss, under Rule 12(b)(6), only when the facts reveal a cognizable claim 

and the facts, if proven, would entitle the plaintiff to relief. Arkansas State Claims Comm’n v. Duit 

Const. Co., 2014 Ark. 432, at 8, 445 S.W.3d 496, 502–03. 

Argument 

 

I. Claimant’s challenge to Respondent’s exercise of judicial action in its Formal Order 

is barred by judicial immunity. 

 

 Judicial immunity is absolute immunity from suit. Blevins v. Hudson, 2016 Ark. 150, at 4, 

489 S.W.3d 165, 168. State court judges have judicial immunity for actions taken in the execution 

of their judicial duties. Hall v. Jones, 2015 Ark. 2, at 3, 453 S.W.3d 674, 676. A judge has a duty 
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“to decide all cases within the judge’s jurisdiction, including cases that evoke intense feelings in 

the litigants, and that the judge should not have to fear that dissatisfied persons will proceed against 

the judge with litigation.” Id. at 3, 453 S.W.3d at 676. The reasoning for judicial immunity is to 

“maintain an independent and impartial judiciary.” Blevins, 2016 Ark. at 5, 489 S.W.3d at 168. 

The two-part test for judicial immunity “requires that [the court] determine whether the judges 

named by appellant….had subject-matter jurisdiction to act on the pleadings that he filed…and 

whether the acts about which the appellant complains were judicial acts.” Peterson v. Judges of 

Jefferson County Circuit Court, 2014 Ark. 228, at 4. 

 To the extent Claimant alleges that the judges on the Arkansas Court of Appeals acted 

improperly in ruling on his proceedings before the court, the allegations are barred by judicial 

immunity. In Peterson, suit was brought against county judges for the alleged denial of rights and 

to collaterally attack the correctness of the rulings on the matters before the judges along with the 

decisions of the Arkansas Supreme Court in affirming those rulings on appeal. Id. at 3. The 

Arkansas Supreme Court held that it was “clear from the record that the petition is without merit, 

and it was barred as a matter of law” based upon judicial immunity. Id. at 3. The Arkansas Supreme 

Court supported its holding through its rationale that “[c]learly, the judges had subject-matter 

jurisdiction to hear the pleadings filed by appellant and to render a decision in their judicial 

capacities.” Id. at 4.  

 Applying the same analysis from Peterson results in a similar conclusion as to Claimant’s 

allegations. Here, Claimant alleges that the Arkansas Court of Appeals “refused to follow [the] 

Order issued by…Judge Susan Hickey.” Compl. at 5–6. Claimant included, as an exhibit to his 

Complaint, the Formal Order issued by the Arkansas Court of Appeals that appears to be at the 

center of his claim. Compl. at 20. In the Formal Order, the Arkansas Court of Appeals granted 
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Claimant’s request to extend the time permitted to file his appellate brief and denied both his 

request to accelerate proceedings and his request to file for relief from judgment based upon fraud 

in the Ashley County Circuit Court. Id. However, the Arkansas Court of Appeals’ rulings on 

Claimant’s three motions fall well within the two-part test stated in Peterson. First, the court had 

subject-matter jurisdiction over Claimant’s case in order to rule on his motions. Arkansas Supreme 

Court Rule 1-2(a) states that, “All cases appealed shall be filed in the Court of Appeals” except for 

an enumerated list of cases that “shall be filed in the Supreme Court.” Claimant’s appeal of his 

contract dispute does not fall within any of the enumerated instances where the appeal is required 

to be heard by the Arkansas Supreme Court. See Ark. Sup. Ct. R. 1-2(a).  

Furthermore, the Arkansas Court of Appeals rendered its decision within its judicial 

capacity. The factors used to determine whether an act is judicial for purposes of judicial immunity 

are: “(a) the need to assure that the individual can perform his functions without harassment or 

intimidation; (b) the presence of safeguards that reduce the need for private-damages actions as a 

means of controlling unconstitutional conduct; (c) insulation from political influence; (d) the 

importance of precedent; (e) the adversary nature of the process; and (f) the correctability of error 

on appeal.” Blevins, 2016 Ark. at 5, 489 S.W.3d at 168–69. Similar to Blevins, it is clear that there 

is a need for judges to be free from harassment and intimidation and insulated from political 

influence when they enter orders. Additionally, the court proceedings, including Claimant’s 

motions, were part of an adversarial process where errors made by the Arkansas Court of Appeals 

could be corrected through an appeal. Given that the judges of the Arkansas Court of Appeals had 

subject-matter jurisdiction and acted within their judicial capacities, the Arkansas Court of Appeals 

is absolutely immune from Claimant’s allegations. 
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II. If this Claims Commission finds that the Complaint is not barred by judicial 

immunity, the Complaint should be dismissed for a failure to plead sufficient facts 

showing that the Respondent committed any specific wrongdoing. 

 

 Arkansas Rule of Civil Procedure 10(c) states that copies “of any written statement which 

is an exhibit to a pleading is part thereof for all purposes.” The definition of “pleading” is 

considered to include complaints. Hotfoot Logistics, LLC, v. Shipping Point Marketing, Inc., 2013 

Ark. 267, at 4. Thus, when a written instrument is an exhibit to a complaint, under Rule 10(c), it 

“may be considered in a motion to dismiss as if it were part of the complaint….” Martin v. 

Equitable Life Assurance Society of the U.S., 344 Ark. 177, 183, 40 S.W.3d 733, 738 (2001).  

 Even considering the written instruments attached as exhibits to the Complaint, Claimant 

fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, and the Complaint should be dismissed 

under Ark. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). Claimant names the Arkansas Court of Appeals as the only 

Respondent in the instant action. Compl. at 1. Yet, the sole allegation provided in his Complaint 

summarily states that, “On July 19, 2024, Judge Robert Gibson (Ashley County Circuit Court), in 

concert with Judge Kenneth Hixson, (Arkansas Supreme Court of Appeals) refused to follow 

Order issued by United States Western Arkansas District Judge Susan Hickey (Exh. C p. 5,6).” 

Compl. at 5; Compl. at 5–6 (providing a different exhibit reference to pages seven through nine of 

Exhibit C).  

Claimant includes various written instruments as part of what he marks as Exhibit C. On 

page five of Exhibit C, Claimant provides an Ashley County Circuit Court Order denying his 

Motion for Reconsideration in a contract dispute case. Compl. at 19. Page six of Exhibit C provides 

Respondent’s Formal Order regarding numerous motions filed by Claimant in the appeal of the 

same contracts case. Compl. at 20. In its Formal Order, Respondent granted Claimant’s request to 

extend the time to submit his brief and denied both his request for leave to file relief from judgment 
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in the circuit court and his request for accelerated proceedings. Compl. at 20. Meanwhile, pages 

seven through nine of Exhibit C are the Order by Western District of Arkansas Judge Susan 

Hickey. Compl. at 21–23. The Order outlined the procedural history of the contract dispute and 

stated that the case should be remanded to the Ashley County Circuit Court after all claims against 

United States Department of Agriculture were dismissed. Compl. at 22.1  

 The documents in Claimant’s Exhibit C do not support his allegations of Respondent’s 

wrongdoing. As stated above, Judge Hickey’s Order simply denied Claimant’s request to “void” 

the court’s previous order “dismissing all claims over which the Court had original jurisdiction 

and remanding the remaining state-law claims to the Ashley County Circuit Court for ‘fraud’….” 

Compl. at 22–23. Claimant fails to point to a clear directive from Judge Hickey imposing any 

certain obligation on Respondent. Judge Hickey was not remanding the case to the Arkansas Court 

of Appeals. Instead, it was remanded to the Ashley County Circuit Court. Compl. at 22–23. 

Furthermore, Claimant fails to state how Respondent’s Formal Order, granting in part and denying 

in part his requests for an extension in briefing time, accelerated proceedings, and the ability to 

file a motion for relief from judgment before the Ashley County Circuit Court, “refused to follow” 

Judge Hickey’s Order. Compl. at 5. Claimant also fails to provide facts to support how this 

purported failure to follow Judge Hickey’s Order resulted in a constitutional violation, harm, or 

injury that would result in a request for any relief—not to mention a request for relief “in excess 

of 1 million dollars.” Compl. at 2. 

 
1 Claimant had also requested that the Western District of Arkansas “void” its previous 

order, under FED. R. CIV. P. 60(b), dismissing the claims against the U.S. Department of 

Agriculture and remanding back to the Ashley County Circuit Court due to “fraud” committed by 

the misrepresentation of “facts in the present case.” However, the court held that it relinquished 

jurisdiction over the “conduct of other individuals in this case” after dismissing the claims against 

the U.S. Department of Agriculture and remanding the case back to state court, and it denied 

Claimant’s motion for relief from the court’s order. Compl. at 22–23. 

G.4

59



Page 7 of 9 

 

 Considering Claimant’s other exhibits, those he does not specifically cite to in the 

numbered paragraph portion of his Complaint, he fails to state facts to support a claim against 

Respondent. The remaining exhibits have no explicit or implicit relation to Respondent. Large 

portions of Claimant’s Complaint, the entirety of his second “Complaint,” along with many pages 

of exhibits appear to allege an illegal or unauthorized investigation commenced by the Arkansas 

Game and Fish Commission into Claimant’s Arkansas resident fishing license. Compl. at 4–9, 24–

39. Yet, other portions of his Complaint and exhibits reference and discuss a wholly separate 

probate matter in which Claimant alleges he was improperly discharged as the Administer of the 

estate, among other things. Compl. at 4–6, 10–14. While Claimant appears to allege that the 

Arkansas Game and Fish investigation impacted the probate case, Compl. at 5 (“The consequence 

of illegal investigation is a denial to access Arkansas Supreme Court Rule 60(c)(4) in [the probate 

case] and forced to hire a lawyer….”), he states no facts showing the relevance to the actions taken 

by Respondent in the contract dispute case. Thus, since Respondent is only briefly mentioned in 

the Complaint without facts in either the body of the Complaint or its exhibits to show how 

Respondent committed any wrongdoing against Claimant, this claim should be dismissed under 

Ark. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. 

II.  

Conclusion 

 

For the reasons stated above, the Commission should dismiss the claim, because it does 

not allege facts that would entitle Claimant to any recovery. 

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

foregoing with the Arkansas State Claims Commission and served a copy of same via the U.S. 

Postal Service to the following person: 

 

Andrew Simpson 

 

 

 

 

 

____________________________ 

  Sean M. Rowland 
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From: SaBreana Hyche
To:
Subject: FW: Simpson v. Ark. Court of Appeals - Claim 251345
Date: Monday, May 5, 2025 2:53:00 PM
Attachments: Outlook-ukas51bi.png

25.04.24 - Notice of Appearance Simpson FINAL.pdf
25.04.29 Simpson MTD FINAL.pdf
25.04.29 Simpson MTD BIS FINAL.pdf

Please see attached per your request.
 
From: Sean Rowland <sean.rowland@arkansasag.gov> 
Sent: Tuesday, April 29, 2025 10:27 AM
To: ASCC Pleadings <ASCCPleadings@arkansas.gov>
Cc: Shannon Keele <shannon.keele@arkansasag.gov>
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
To: Kathryn Irby
Subject: Return Call Request
Date: Thursday, May 15, 2025 9:15:00 AM

Mr. Simpson, claim No. 251345, called May 5, 2025 inquiring to see if the Resp had responded
to his claim. I told him they had and how the response was delivered to him. He stated he had
not received anything and asked if it could be emailed to him. I did just that and noted it in the
database. Mr. Simpson called again today stating that he still has not received anything from
the Resp. and asked how many days do he have to reply. I told him that we follow the AR civil
rules and procedures. He did state that his time is running out and he needs a time. I could not
answer his question. I tried to transfer him to you and got your vm. I took his number and let
him know that I am emailing you so that you may call him back with some definitive answer.
 

 
Thanks,
SaBreana
SaBreana J. Hyche
Arkansas State Claims Commission
Administrative Analyst
101 East Capitol Ave., Suite 410
Little Rock, AR 72201
501-682-2819 (wk)
SaBreana.Hyche@arkansas.gov
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BEFORE THE ARKANSAS STATE CLAIMS COMMISSION 

 

ANDREW SIMPSON CLAIMANT 

 

V. CLAIM NO. 251345 

 

ARKANSAS COURT OF 

APPEALS  RESPONDENT 

 

 

ORDER 

 Now before the Arkansas State Claims Commission (the “Commission”) is the motion filed 

by the Arkansas Court of Appeals (the “Respondent”) to dismiss the claim of Andrew Simpson 

(the “Claimant”). Based upon a review of claim file and the law of the State of Arkansas, the 

Commission hereby finds as follows: 

1. Claimant filed this claim alleging that a judge on the Arkansas Court of Appeals 

refused to follow an order issued by a federal district court judge. 

2. Respondent filed a motion to dismiss the claim, arguing that Claimant’s claim is 

barred by judicial immunity and subject to dismiss pursuant to Ark. R. Civ. Proc. 12(b)(6). 

3. Claimant responded, arguing, inter alia, that Respondent acted outside of its 

judicial capacity and that Claimant provided specific allegations as to Respondent’s “refus[al] to 

comply with a valid court order.” 

4. The Commission finds that Respondent is entitled to judicial immunity in this 

matter. Blevins v. Hudson, 2016 Ark. 150, 489 S.W.3d 165 (“Judicial immunity is absolute 

immunity from suit”). To the extent that Claimant believed that an order entered by Respondent 

to be in error, Claimant had an opportunity to challenge the order through an appeal. The 

Commission does not exist as an alternate avenue for appeal of decisions by Arkansas courts. 

5. Alternatively, the Commission finds that Claimant’s claim should be dismissed for 

failure to state a claim. Claimant’s complaint includes documentation of a breach of contract 
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federal court lawsuit, an investigation by the Arkansas Game and Fish Commission, and a state 

probate case. Claimant’s claim does not explain how any of these documents are related to his 

single allegation (as to Respondent) that one of Respondent’s judges failed to follow an order by 

a federal district court judge. As such, even viewing the allegations in a light most favorable to 

Claimant under Hodges v. Lamora, 337 Ark. 470, 989 S.W.2d 530 (1999), the Commission finds 

that dismissal is proper under Ark. R. Civ. Proc. 12(b)(6). 

6. As such, Respondent’s motion is GRANTED, and Claimant’s claim is 

DISMISSED.  
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IT IS SO ORDERED. 

      
     _______________________________________ 

ARKANSAS STATE CLAIMS COMMISSION 

Dee Holcomb 

       
      _______________________________________ 

ARKANSAS STATE CLAIMS COMMISSION 

      Henry Kinslow   

       
      ______________________________________ 

ARKANSAS STATE CLAIMS COMMISSION 

Paul Morris, chair 

 

     DATE: August 7, 2025 

 

 

  Notice(s) which may apply to your claim 

 

(1) A party has forty (40) days from transmission of this Order to file a Motion for Reconsideration or a Notice of Appeal 

with the Claims Commission. Ark. Code Ann. § 25-44-211(a)(1). If a Motion for Reconsideration is denied, that 

party then has twenty (20) days from transmission of the denial of the Motion for Reconsideration to file a Notice of 

Appeal with the Claims Commission. Ark. Code Ann. § 25-44-211(a)(1)(B)(ii). A decision of the Claims 

Commission may only be appealed to the General Assembly. Ark. Code Ann. § 25-44-211(a)(3). 

 

(2) If a Claimant is awarded less than $15,000.00 by the Claims Commission at hearing, that claim is held forty (40) 

days from the date of disposition before payment will be processed. See Ark. Code Ann. § 25-44-211(a). Note: This 

does not apply to agency admissions of liability and negotiated settlement agreements. 

 

(3) Awards or negotiated settlement agreements of $15,000.00 or more are referred to the General Assembly for approval 

and authorization to pay. Ark. Code Ann. § 25-44-215(b). 
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From: Kathryn Irby
To: Sean Rowland
Cc: Shannon Keele
Bcc: Mika Tucker
Subject: ORDER: Simpson v. Ark. Ct. of Appeals, Claim No. 251345
Date: Wednesday, August 13, 2025 12:54:00 PM
Attachments: C10--Simpson v. Ark. Ct of Appeals, 251345.pdf

Mr. Simpson and Mr. Rowland:
 
Please see attached order entered by the Commission. To the extent that either party is in
disagreement with the Commission’s decision, please review Section 1 of the text box at the
end of the order for the options at this point. Any future filings should be transmitted to
asccpleadings@arkansas.gov with a copy to the opposing party.
 
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
Subject: FW: ORDER: Simpson v. Ark. Ct. of Appeals, Claim No. 251345
Date: Monday, August 25, 2025 8:46:00 AM
Attachments: C10--Simpson v. Ark. Ct of Appeals, 251345.pdf

 
 
From: Kathryn Irby 
Sent: Wednesday, August 13, 2025 12:54 PM
To:  Sean Rowland
<sean.rowland@arkansasag.gov>
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
Date: Monday, August 25, 2025 8:48:00 AM
Attachments: C10--Simpson v. Ark. Ct of Appeals, 251345.pdf

 
 
From: ASCC New Claims 
Sent: Monday, August 25, 2025 8:47 AM
To: 
Subject: FW: ORDER: Simpson v. Ark. Ct. of Appeals, Claim No. 251345

 
 
 
From: Kathryn Irby 
Sent: Wednesday, August 13, 2025 12:54 PM
To: Andrew Simpson  Sean Rowland
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
To: ASCC New Claims; Shannon Keele
Cc: Kathryn Irby
Subject: Re: Simpson v. Ark. Ct. of Appeals, Claim No. 251345
Date: Monday, August 25, 2025 4:50:34 PM
Attachments: image.png

Received, and thank you!

Sean

Sean M. Rowland
Assistant Attorney General – Civil Litigation Division
 
Office of Attorney General Tim Griffin
Office: (501) 295-7486
101 West Capitol Avenue | Little Rock, Arkansas 72201
Email:  sean.rowland@arkansasag.gov
 

From: ASCC New Claims <ASCC.New.Claims@arkansas.gov>
Sent: Monday, August 25, 2025 3:19 PM
To: Sean Rowland <sean.rowland@arkansasag.gov>; Shannon Keele
<shannon.keele@arkansasag.gov>
Cc: Kathryn Irby <Kathryn.Irby@arkansas.gov>
Subject: Simpson v. Ark. Ct. of Appeals, Claim No. 251345
 
Dear Mr. Rowland and Mr. Keele,
 
Please see the attached order mailed to Mr. Simpson per his request today.
 
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
Subject: FW: Please file Motion For Reconsideration and return Stamped Copy
Date: Tuesday, September 16, 2025 9:28:24 AM
Attachments: Scan 20250916.pdf

 
 
From: Andrew Simpson  
Sent: Tuesday, September 16, 2025 9:23 AM
To: SaBreana Hyche <SaBreana.Hyche@arkansas.gov>
Subject: Please file Motion For Reconsideration and return Stamped Copy

 

Andrew Simpson Claim No. 251345
--
Thank you,
Andrew Simpson
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From: Kathryn Irby
To:
Subject: RE: Please file Motion For Reconsideration and return Stamped Copy
Date: Wednesday, September 17, 2025 9:04:00 AM
Attachments: Scan 20250916.pdf

Mr. Simpson, a filemarked copy of your motion for reconsideration was placed in the mail
yesterday. However, I can also confirm receipt of your motion on 9/16/2025.
 
If you need to electronically submit any future filings related to this claim, please send the
filing(s) to asccpleadings@arkansas.gov. That will ensure the quickest confirmation of receipt.
 
Kathryn Irby
 
 
Kathryn Irby
Arkansas State Claims Commission
101 East Capitol Avenue, Suite 410
Little Rock, Arkansas 72201
(501) 682-1619
 
 
 
From: Andrew Simpson < > 
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
Date: Friday, September 26, 2025 10:24:00 AM

Good morning,
Andrew Simpson would like for you to call him at 
 
SaBreana
 
SaBreana J. Hyche
Arkansas State Claims Commission
Administrative Analyst
101 East Capitol Ave., Suite 410
Little Rock, AR 72201
501-682-2819 (wk)
SaBreana.Hyche@arkansas.gov
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From: Sharnae Diggs
To: ASCC Pleadings
Cc: Ayanna Austin
Subject: Andrew Simpson v. Arkansas Court of Appeals, Claim No. 251345
Date: Monday, November 10, 2025 11:32:58 AM
Attachments: Outlook-4mxaouxy.png

11.10.25 MTN for Substitution of Counsel (SD).pdf
11.10.25 Simpson NOA.pdf

Dear ASCC Staff: 

Please find the attached notice of appearance and motion to substitute counsel in the
above-referenced case. 

Best regards,
Sharnae 

Sharnae Y. Diggs
Senior Assistant Attorney General – Civil Litigation Division
Office of Attorney General Tim Griffin  
Bob R. Brooks Jr. Justice Building
101 West Capitol Avenue│Little Rock, Arkansas 72201
Office: (501) 682-1325│Fax: (501) 682-2591
Email: sharnae.diggs@arkansasag.gov│ArkansasAG.gov 
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BEFORE THE ARKANSAS STATE CLAIMS COMMISSION 

 
ANDREW SIMPLSON CLAIMANT 
 
v. CLAIM NO. 251345 
 
ARKANSAS COURT OF APPEALS RESPONDENT 

 
MOTION FOR SUBSTITUTION OF COUNSEL 

 
Respondent Arkansas Court of Appeals, by and through its counsel, Attorney General Tim 

Griffin, and Senior Assistant Attorney General Sharnae Diggs, submits the following for 

consideration by the Commission: 

1. Assistant Attorney General Sean Rowland left his employment with the Office of 

the Attorney General and will no longer be involved in this case.   

2. This case has been reassigned to Senior Assistant Attorney General Sharnae Diggs, 

who now represents Respondent Arkansas Court of Appeals and should be substituted as counsel 

of record. 

3. Respondent Arkansas Court of Appeals requests that the Commission and Claimant 

direct all future pleadings and correspondence to Senior Assistant Attorney General Sharnae Diggs 

at the Attorney General’s Office. 

 WHEREFORE, Respondent Arkansas Court of Appeals respectfully requests that the 

Commission grant its Motion for Substitution of Counsel and that Sharnae Diggs be substituted as 

Respondent’s counsel of record.  

 

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

 
 

NOTICE OF APPEARANCE 
 
 Senior Assistant Attorney General Sharnae Diggs hereby enters her appearance as counsel 

for Respondent, the Arkansas Court of Appeals, and requests that all future service and 

correspondence be sent accordingly. I hereby certify that I am admitted to practice before this 

Commission. 

Respectfully submitted,   
 
TIM GRIFFIN  
Attorney General  

  
By: ________________________________  

Sharnae Diggs 
Arkansas Bar No. 2018130   
Senior Assistant Attorney General  
Arkansas Attorney General’s Office  
101 West Capitol Avenue 
Little Rock, AR 72201  
501.682.1325 phone  
501.682.2591 fax  
sharnae.diggs@arkansasag.gov  
 
Attorneys for Respondent 
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From: Sharnae Diggs
To: ASCC Pleadings
Cc: Ayanna Austin
Subject: Re: Andrew Simpson v. Arkansas Court of Appeals, Claim No. 251345
Date: Wednesday, November 12, 2025 8:50:25 AM
Attachments: image001.png

Outlook-fqv3joha.png

Thank you for the confirmation.

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

From: Misty Scott <Misty.Scott@arkansas.gov> on behalf of ASCC Pleadings
<ASCCPleadings@arkansas.gov>
Sent: Monday, November 10, 2025 3:46 PM
To: Sharnae Diggs <sharnae.diggs@arkansasag.gov>; ASCC Pleadings
<ASCCPleadings@arkansas.gov>
Cc: Ayanna Austin <ayanna.austin@arkansasag.gov>
Subject: RE: Andrew Simpson v. Arkansas Court of Appeals, Claim No. 251345
 
Received.
 
From: Sharnae Diggs <sharnae.diggs@arkansasag.gov> 
Sent: Monday, November 10, 2025 11:33 AM
To: ASCC Pleadings <asccpleadings@arkansas.gov>
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

 

ANDREW SIMPSON  CLAIMANT 

 

V. CLAIM NO. 251345 

 

ARKANSAS COURT OF 

APPEALS RESPONDENT 

 

 

ORDER 

 

Now before the Arkansas State Claims Commission (the “Commission”) is the motion filed 

by Andrew Simpson (the “Claimant”) seeking reconsideration of the Commission’s August 7, 

2025, order granting the motion to dismiss filed by the Arkansas Court of Appeals (the 

“Respondent”). Based upon a review of the motion, the claim file, and the law of the State of 

Arkansas, the Commission hereby finds as follows: 

1. Claimant filed this claim alleging that an Arkansas Court of Appeals judge refused 

to follow an order issued by a federal district court judge. 

2. Respondent filed a motion to dismiss, arguing, inter alia, that Claimant’s claim is 

barred by judicial immunity and subject to dismissal pursuant to Ark. R. Civ. Proc. 12(b)(6). In 

the Commission’s August 7, 2025, order, the Commission agreed that dismissal was proper based 

upon judicial immunity and Claimant’s failure to state facts upon which relief can be granted.  

3. Claimant then filed a motion for reconsideration, alleging constitutional violations 

on the part of Respondent and stating that Respondent does not have immunity for constitutional 

violations. 

4. Rule 7.1 of the Commission Rules and Regulations states that motions for 

reconsideration “will only be entertained if they set forth new or additional evidence which was 

not [previously] available . . . .” 
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5. The Commission finds that Claimant has not stated grounds under Commission 

Rule 7.1 warranting reconsideration. The Commission further notes that, to the extent Claimant 

has a constitutional claim against one or more of Respondent’s judges, that claim is not within the 

jurisdiction of the Commission because such claims can be brought in a court of general 

jurisdiction. Ark. Code Ann. § 25-44-204. As such, the Commission finds that Claimant’s motion 

for reconsideration should be DENIED and that the Commission’s August 7, 2025, decision 

remains in effect.  
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

      Henry Kinslow, Chair 

       
      ______________________________________ 

ARKANSAS STATE CLAIMS COMMISSION 

Sylvester Smith 

             

      DATE: December 4, 2025 

 

  Notices which may apply to this claim 

 

(1) A party has forty (40) days from transmission of this Order to file a Motion for Reconsideration or a Notice of Appeal 

with the Commission. Ark. Code Ann. § 25-44-211(a)(1). If a Motion for Reconsideration is denied, that party then 

has twenty (20) days from the transmission of the denial of the Motion for Reconsideration to file a Notice of Appeal 

with the Commission. Ark. Code Ann. § 25-44-211(a)(1)(B)(ii). A decision of the Commission may only be appealed 

to the General Assembly. Ark. Code Ann. § 25-44-211(a)(3). 

 

(2) If a Claimant is awarded $15,000.00 or less by the Commission at hearing, that award is held forty (40) days from 

the date of disposition before payment will be processed to allow either party to utilize its remedies under Ark. Code 

Ann. § 25-44-211(a). Note: This does not apply to agency admissions of liability and negotiated settlement 

agreements. 

 

(3) Awards or negotiated settlement agreements of more than $15,000.00 are referred to the General Assembly for 

approval and authorization to pay. Ark. Code Ann. § 25-44-215(b). 
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From: Kathryn Irby
To: Sharnae Diggs; Ayanna Austin
Bcc: Mika Tucker
Subject: ORDER: Simspon v. Ark. Ct. Appeals, Claim No. 251345
Date: Friday, December 12, 2025 9:18:00 AM
Attachments: Simspon v. Ark. Ct. Appeals, 251345 -- order ltr.pdf

C30--Simpson v. ACA, 251345.pdf

Ms. Diggs, please see attached.
 
Thanks,
Kathryn Irby
 
 
Kathryn Irby
Arkansas State Claims Commission
101 East Capitol Avenue, Suite 410
Little Rock, Arkansas 72201
(501) 682-2822
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ARKANSAS STATE CLAIMS COMMISSION 

 
(501) 682-1619 

FAX (501) 682-2823 

 
 

101 EAST CAPITOL AVENUE 

SUITE 410 

LITTLE ROCK, ARKANSAS 

72201-3823 

KATHRYN IRBY 

DIRECTOR 

 
December 12, 2025 

 

Mr. Andrew Simpson 

 

 

 

Ms. Sharnae Diggs (via email) 

Arkansas Attorney General’s Office 

101 West Capitol Avenue 

Little Rock, Arkansas 72201 

 

RE: Andrew Simpson v. Arkansas Court of Appeals 

 Claim No. 251345 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Dear Mr. Simpson and Ms. Diggs: 

 

 Enclosed please find an Order entered by the Commission. To the extent that either party disagrees 

with the Commission’s decision, please review Section 1 of the text box at the end of the order for the 

options at this point. Please note that any future filings may be submitted to the Commission electronically 

by sending to asccpleadings@arkansas.gov or via mail, with a copy to the opposing party. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

      Kathryn Irby 

ES: kmirby 
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From: SaBreana Hyche
To: Kathryn Irby
Subject: RE: please mail today -- SimpsonFW: ORDER: Simpson v. Ark. Ct. Appeals, Claim No. 251345
Date: Friday, December 12, 2025 10:14:00 AM

Completed
 
 
From: Kathryn Irby <Kathryn.Irby@arkansas.gov> 
Sent: Friday, December 12, 2025 9:20 AM
To: SaBreana Hyche <SaBreana.Hyche@arkansas.gov>
Subject: please mail today -- SimpsonFW: ORDER: Simpson v. Ark. Ct. Appeals, Claim No. 251345

 
SaBreana, please doublecheck Cl’s address, mail the two attachments to him, and upload
confirmation of mailing to the database. Thanks.
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From: Sharnae Diggs
To: Kathryn Irby; Ayanna Austin
Subject: Re: ORDER: Simspon v. Ark. Ct. Appeals, Claim No. 251345
Date: Friday, December 12, 2025 10:00:22 AM
Attachments: Outlook-zbcwtdhn.png

Thank you, Dir. Irby. 

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
Sent: Friday, December 12, 2025 9:18 AM
To: Sharnae Diggs <sharnae.diggs@arkansasag.gov>; Ayanna Austin
<ayanna.austin@arkansasag.gov>
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
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From: Misty Scott on behalf of ASCC Pleadings
To:
Cc: ASCC Pleadings
Subject: FW: ORDER: Simspon v. Ark. Ct. Appeals, Claim No. 251345
Date: Wednesday, December 31, 2025 8:51:00 AM
Attachments: Simspon v. Ark. Ct. Appeals, 251345 -- order ltr.pdf

C30--Simpson v. ACA, 251345.pdf

 
 
From: Kathryn Irby 
Sent: Friday, December 12, 2025 9:19 AM
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
Thank you
Andrew Simpson
Andrew's Bayou Ribs
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Legal Memorandum 

Re: Motion to Amend Complaint to Include Conspiracy Claim – Estate of David 
Simpson 

Background 

The Arkansas Game and Fish Commission initiated an allegedly illegal investigation 
by issuing false citations on June 24, 2023, leading to multiple legal proceedings 
involving the estate of David Simpson.  

Andrew Simpson was appointed and later discharged as Administrator for the 
Estate.  

Petitions to reopen the Estate and motions for reconsideration were denied by the 
court and the Arkansas Claim Commission 

Plaintiff seeks to amend the complaint to add a conspiracy claim based on newly 
discovered facts.  

Legal Issues & Citations 

Amendment of Complaint: 

Arkansas Rule of Civil Procedure 15(a) – Leave to amend should be freely given 
when justice requires.  

Relief from Judgment: 

Arkansas Supreme Court Rule 60(c)(4) – Permits vacating or modifying judgments 
for fraud or misrepresentation. 

Federal Civil Rights: 

42 U.S.C. § 1983 – Provides a remedy for deprivation of rights under color of law.  

Analysis 

The facts support a coordinated effort by defendants and officials to obstruct 
Plaintiff’s rights, including issuing false citations and interfering with estate 
administration. 

Jurisdictional barriers and exhaustion of remedies in state forums may require 
federal action if constitutional rights are implicated. The procedural history 
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demonstrates that the estate of David Simpson is legally closed, with all petitions 
to reopen and motions for reconsideration denied by both the circuit court and 
the Arkansas Claim Commission. The Plaintiff, Andrew Simpson, has exhausted 
available remedies in these forums, and further action in the same court is barred 
unless new, substantial evidence emerges.  

The motion to amend the complaint is supported by newly discovered facts 
indicating a coordinated scheme involving the Arkansas Game and Fish 
Commission and other parties, resulting in fraudulent proceedings and 
deprivation of property rights. Arkansas Rule of Civil Procedure 15(a) provides that 
leave to amend should be freely given when justice so requires, and the 
circumstances here warrant such relief.  

Jurisdictional limitations set by the Arkansas Claim Commission clarify that claims 
involving fraud or complex estate matters must be brought before a court of 
general jurisdiction. The denial of relief under Arkansas Supreme Court Rule 
60(c)(4) further underscores the procedural barriers faced by Plaintiff, as this rule 
is specifically designed to address misrepresentation or fraud by an adverse party. 

Given the exhaustion of state remedies and the assertion of constitutional 
violations, Plaintiff may consider pursuing federal remedies under 42 U.S.C. § 
1983, which provides a civil cause of action for deprivation of rights under color of 
law. Such federal actions require substantial legal grounds and careful 
consideration of the facts and procedural history.  

Conclusion 

In summary, Plaintiff’s motion to amend is both procedurally and substantively 
supported by the record and applicable law. The estate proceedings are closed at 
the state level, but Plaintiff retains the option to seek further relief in federal court 
if constitutional rights have been infringed. The court should grant leave to amend 
the complaint to ensure all claims arising from the facts are properly adjudicated.  

 

Andrew Simpson 
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